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Inflation Adjustment Act. This increase
is not anticipated to have impacts on the
quality of the human environment. The
“general penalty” is applicable to other
violations, such as a manufacturer’s
failure to submit pre-model year and
mid-model year reports to NHTSA on
whether they will comply with the
average fuel economy standards. These
violations are not directly related to on-
road fuel economy, and therefore the
penalties are not anticipated to directly
or indirectly affect fuel use or
emissions.

iv. Agencies and Persons Consulted

NHTSA and DOT have consulted with
OMB as described earlier in this
proposal. NHTSA and DOT have not
consulted with any other agencies in the
development of this proposal.

v. Conclusion

NHTSA has reviewed the information
presented in this Draft EA and
concludes that the proposed action and
alternatives would have no impact or a
small positive impact on the quality of
the human environment. The preferred
alternative is anticipated to have no
impact on the quality of the human
environment, as it would result in no
change, as compared to current law, to
the civil penalty amount for failure to
meet fuel economy targets. Further, the
proposed change to the “general
penalty” is not anticipated to affect on-
road emissions. Any of the impacts
anticipated to result from the
alternatives under consideration are not
expected to rise to a level of significance
that necessitates the preparation of an
Environmental Impact Statement. Based
on the information in this Draft EA and
assuming no additional information or
changed circumstances, NHTSA expects
to issue a Finding of No Significant
Impact (FONSI). Such a finding will not
be made before careful review of all
public comments received. A Final EA
and a FONS]I, if appropriate, will be
issued as part of the final rule.

6. Executive Order 12778 (Civil Justice
Reform)

This rule does not have a retroactive
or preemptive effect. Judicial review of
a rule based on this proposal may be
obtained pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 702.

7. Paperwork Reduction Act

In accordance with the Paperwork
Reduction Act of 1980, NHTSA states
that there are no requirements for
information collection associated with
this rulemaking action.

8. Privacy Act

Please note that anyone is able to
search the electronic form of all
comments received into any of DOT’s
dockets by the name of the individual
submitting the comment (or signing the
comment, if submitted on behalf of an
association, business, labor union, etc.).
You may review DOT’s complete
Privacy Act Statement in the Federal
Register published on April 11, 2000
(Volume 65, Number 70; Pages 19477—
78), or you may visit http://dms.dot.gov.

9. Executive Order 13771

This proposed rule is expected to be
a deregulatory action under Executive
Order 13771, although NHTSA, at this
point, has not been able to quantify
potential cost savings.

Proposed Regulatory Text
List of Subjects in 49 CFR Part 578

Imports, Motor vehicle safety, Motor
vehicles, Rubber and rubber products,
Tires, Penalties.

In consideration of the foregoing, 49
CFR part 578 is proposed to be amended
as set forth below.

PART 578—CIVIL AND CRIMINAL
PENALTIES

m 1. The authority citation for 49 CFR
part 578 is revised to read as follows:

Authority: Pub. L. 101-410, Pub. L. 104—
134, Pub. L. 109-59, Pub. L. 114-74, Pub. L.
114-94, 49 U.S.C. 30165, 30170, 30505,
32308, 32309, 32507, 32709, 32710, 32902,
32912, and 33115; delegation of authority at
49 CFR 1.81, 1.95.

m 2. Amend §578.6 by revising
paragraph (h) to read as follows:

§578.6 Civil penalties for violations of
specified provisions of Title 49 of the United
States Code.

* * * * *

(h) Automobile fuel economy. (1) A
person that violates 49 U.S.C. 32911(a)
is liable to the United States
Government for a civil penalty of not
more than $41,484 for each violation. A
separate violation occurs for each day
the violation continues.

(2) Except as provided in 49 U.S.C.
32912(c), a manufacturer that violates a
standard prescribed for a model year
under 49 U.S.C. 32902 is liable to the
United States Government for a civil
penalty of $5.50 multiplied by each .1
of a mile a gallon by which the
applicable average fuel economy
standard under that section exceeds the
average fuel economy—

(i) Calculated under 49 U.S.C.
32904(a)(1)(A) or (B) for automobiles to
which the standard applies

manufactured by the manufacturer
during the model year;

(ii) Multiplied by the number of those
automobiles; and

(iii) Reduced by the credits available
to the manufacturer under 49 U.S.C.
32903 for the model year.

* * * * *

Issued in Washington, DC, under authority
delegated in 49 CFR 1.81, 1.95, and 501.5

Heidi R. King,

Deputy Administrator.

[FR Doc. 2018-06550 Filed 3—30—18; 8:45 am|
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DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
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50 CFR Part 17

[Docket No. FWS—-R1-ES—2017-0050;
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RIN 1018-BC10

Endangered and Threatened Wildlife
and Plants; Reclassifying the Hawaiian
Goose From Endangered to
Threatened With a 4(d) Rule

AGENCY: Fish and Wildlife Service,
Interior.

ACTION: Proposed rule.

SUMMARY: Under the authority of the
Endangered Species Act of 1973, as
amended (Act), we, the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service (Service), propose to
reclassify the Hawaiian goose (nene)
(Branta (=Nesochen) sandvicensis) from
endangered to threatened, and we
propose a rule under section 4(d) of the
Act to enhance conservation of the
species through range expansion and
management flexibility. This proposal is
based on a thorough review of the best
available scientific data, which indicate
that the species’ status has improved
such that it is not currently in danger of
extinction throughout all or a significant
portion of its range. We also propose to
correct the Federal List of Endangered
and Threatened Wildlife to reflect that
Nesochen is not currently a
scientifically accepted generic name for
this species, and to acknowledge the
Hawaiian name ‘“nene” as an alternative
common name. We seek information,
data, and comments from the public on
this proposal.

DATES: We will accept comments
received or postmarked on or before
June 1, 2018. Please note that if you are
using the Federal eRulemaking Portal
(see ADDRESSES), the deadline for
submitting an electronic comment is
11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on this date.
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We must receive requests for public
hearings, in writing, at the address
shown in the FOR FURTHER INFORMATION
CONTACT section by May 17, 2018.
ADDRESSES: You may submit comments
by one of the following methods:

(1) Electronically: Go to the Federal
eRulemaking Portal: http://
www.regulations.gov. In the Search box,
enter FWS-R1-ES—-2017-0050, which is
the docket number for this rulemaking.
Then, in the Search panel on the left
side of the screen, under the Document
Type heading, click on the Proposed
Rules link to locate this document. You
may submit a comment by clicking on
“Comment Now!”” Please ensure that
you have found the correct rulemaking
before submitting your comment.

(2) By hard copy: Submit by U.S. mail
or hand-delivery to: Public Comments
Processing, Attn: FWS-R1-ES-2017-
0050, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service,
MS: BPHC, 5275 Leesburg Pike, Falls
Church, VA 22041-3808.

We request that you send comments
only by the methods described above.
We will post all comments on http://
www.regulations.gov. This generally
means that we will post any personal
information you provide us (see
Information Requested, below, for more
information).

Document availability: The proposed
rule is available on http://
www.regulations.gov. In addition, the
supporting file for this proposed rule
will be available for public inspection,
by appointment, during normal business
hours, at the Pacific Islands Fish and
Wildlife Office, 300 Ala Moana
Boulevard, Room 3-122, Honolulu, HI
96850; telephone 808-792-9400.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:
Mary Abrams, Field Supervisor,
telephone: 808—792-9400. Direct all
questions or requests for additional
information to: U.S. Fish and Wildlife
Service, Pacific Islands Fish and
Wildlife Office, 300 Ala Moana
Boulevard, Room 3-122, Honolulu, HI
96850. Persons who use a
telecommunications device for the deaf
(TDD) may call the Federal Relay
Service at 800-877-8339.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Executive Summary

Why we need to publish a rule. Under
the Act, a species may warrant
reclassification from endangered to
threatened if it no longer meets the
definition of endangered (in danger of
extinction). The Hawaiian goose (nene)
is listed as endangered, and we are
proposing to reclassify nene as
threatened because we have determined
it is no longer in danger of extinction.

Reclassifications can only be made by
issuing a rulemaking. Furthermore,
changes to the take prohibitions in
section 9 of the Act, such as those we
are proposing for this species under a
section 4(d) rule, can only be made by
issuing a rulemaking.

The basis for our action. Under the
Act, we may determine that a species is
an endangered or threatened species
based on any one or a combination of
five factors: (A) The present or
threatened destruction, modification, or
curtailment of its habitat or range; (B)
overutilization for commercial,
recreational, scientific, or educational
purposes; (C) disease or predation; (D)
the inadequacy of existing regulatory
mechanisms; or (E) other natural or
manmade factors affecting its continued
existence. We have determined that the
nene is no longer at risk of extinction
and, therefore, does not meet the
definition of endangered, but is still
affected by the following current and
ongoing threats to the extent that the
species meets the definition of a
threatened species under the Act:

e Habitat destruction and
modification due to urbanization,
agricultural activities, nonnative
ungulates, and nonnative vegetation;

e Predation by nonnative mammals
such as mongooses, cats, dogs, rats, and
pigs;

¢ Diseases such as toxoplasmosis,
avian pox, avian botulism, avian
malaria, omphalitis, West Nile virus,
and avian influenza;

e Human activities such as motor
vehicle collisions, collisions at wind
energy facilities, artificial hazards (e.g.,
fences, fishing nets, erosion control
material), feeding and habituation, and
recreational activities (e.g., human
visitation at parks and refuges); and

¢ Stochastic events such as drought
and hurricanes.

Environmental effects from climate
change are likely to exacerbate the
impacts of drought and hurricanes, and
flooding of nene habitat due to sea level
rise may become a threat in the future.
Existing regulatory mechanisms and
conservation efforts do not effectively
address the introduction and spread of
nonnative plants and animals and other
threats to the nene.

We are proposing to promulgate a
section 4(d) rule. We are proposing to
modify the normal take prohibitions to
allow certain activities conducted on
lands where nene occur or where they
would occur if we were to reintroduce
them to areas of their historical
distribution. Under the proposed 4(d)
rule, take of nene caused by actions
resulting in intentional harassment that
is not likely to cause direct injury or

mortality, control of introduced
predators, or habitat enhancement
beneficial to nene would be not be
prohibited. The proposed 4(d) rule
identifies these activities to provide
protective mechanisms to landowners
and their agents so that they may
continue with certain activities that are
not anticipated to cause direct injury or
mortality to nene and that will facilitate
the conservation and recovery of nene.
Federally implemented, funded, or
permitted actions would continue to be
subject to the requirements of section 7
of the Act and eligible for an incidental
take exemption through section 7(o).

Information Requested
Public Comments

We intend that any final action
resulting from this proposal will be
based on the best available scientific
and commercial data and will be as
accurate and as effective as possible.
Therefore, we invite governmental
agencies, the scientific community,
industry, Native Hawaiian
organizations, or any other interested
parties to submit comments or
recommendations concerning any
aspect of this proposed rule. Comments
should be as specific as possible. We are
specifically requesting comments on:

(1) The appropriateness of our
proposal to reclassify nene from
endangered to threatened.

(2) The factors that are the basis for
making a reclassification determination
for a species under section 4(a) of the
Act (16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.), which are:

(a) The present or threatened
destruction, modification, or
curtailment of its habitat or range;

(b) Overutilization for commercial,
recreational, scientific, or educational
purposes;

(c) Disease or predation;

(d) The inadequacy of existing
regulatory mechanisms; or

(e) Other natural or manmade factors
affecting its continued existence.

(3) Biological, commercial trade, or
other relevant data concerning any
threats (or lack thereof) to the nene and
existing regulations that may be
addressing those threats.

(4) Additional information concerning
the historical and current status, range,
distribution, and population size of this
species, including the locations of any
additional populations of this species.

(5) Any information on the biological
or ecological requirements of the species
and ongoing conservation measures for
the species and its habitat.

(6) Any information on foreseeable
changes to State land use or County
land use planning within the
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boundaries of the nene’s range that may
affect future habitat availability for the
nene.

(7) The appropriateness of a rule
under section 4(d) of the Act to allow
certain actions to take nene, and any
additional actions that should be
considered for authorization.

(8) The appropriateness of a rule
under section 4(d) of the Act to allow
interstate commerce for nene in
captivity outside Hawaii.

(9) Any additional information
pertaining to the promulgation of a rule
under section 4(d) of the Act to allow
certain actions that may take nene.

(10) Relevant data on climate change
and potential impacts to the nene and
its habitat.

We will take into consideration all
comments and any additional
information we receive. Such
communications may lead to a final rule
that differs from this proposal. All
comments, including commenters’
names and addresses, if provided to us,
will become part of the supporting
record. Please include sufficient
information with your submission (such
as scientific journal articles or other
publications) to allow us to verify any
scientific or commercial information
you include. Please note that
submissions merely stating support for
or opposition to the action under
consideration without providing
supporting information, although noted,
will not be considered in making a
determination, as section 4(b)(1)(A) of
the Act directs that determinations as to
whether any species is an endangered or
a threatened species must be made
“solely on the basis of the best scientific
and commercial data available.”

You may submit your comments and
materials concerning the proposed rule
by one of the methods listed in
ADDRESSES. We request that you send
comments only by the methods
described in ADDRESSES.

If you submit information via http://
www.regulations.gov, your entire
submission—including any personal
identifying information—will be posted
on the website. If your submission is
made via a hardcopy that includes
personal identifying information, you
may request at the top of your document
that we withhold this information from
public review. However, we cannot
guarantee that we will be able to do so.

We will post all hardcopy
submissions on http://
www.regulations.gov. Comments and
materials we receive, as well as
supporting documentation we used in
preparing this proposed rule, will be
available for public inspection on http://
www.regulations.gov, or by

appointment, during normal business
hours at the U.S. Fish and Wildlife
Service, Pacific Islands Fish and
Wildlife Office (see FOR FURTHER
INFORMATION CONTACT).

Public Hearing

Section 4(b)(5)(E) of the Act provides
for a public hearing on this proposal, if
requested. We must receive a request for
a public hearing, in writing, at the
address shown in FOR FURTHER
INFORMATION CONTACT by the date
specified in DATES. We will schedule a
public hearing on this proposal, if
requested, and announce the date, time,
and place of the hearing, as well as how
to obtain reasonable accommodations,
in the Federal Register at least 15 days
before the hearing.

Peer Review

In accordance with our policy,
“Notice of Interagency Cooperative
Policy for Peer Review in Endangered
Species Act Activities,” which
published in the Federal Register on
July 1, 1994 (59 FR 34270), we will seek
the expert opinion of at least three
appropriate independent specialists
regarding scientific data and
interpretations contained in this
proposed rule. We will send copies of
this proposed rule to the peer reviewers
immediately following publication in
the Federal Register. This assessment
will be completed during the public
comment period. The purpose of such
review is to ensure that our decisions
are based on scientifically sound data,
assumptions, and analysis. Accordingly,
the final decision may differ from this
proposal.

Background

Previous Federal Action

On March 11, 1967, the Secretary of
the Interior identified nene as an
endangered species (32 FR 4001), under
the authority of the Endangered Species
Preservation Act of 1966 (80 Stat. 926;
16 U.S.C. 668aa(c)). On March 8, 1969,
the Secretary of the Interior again
identified nene as an endangered
species (34 FR 5034) under section 1(c)
of the Endangered Species Preservation
Act of 1966. On October 13, 1970, the
Director of the Bureau of Sport Fisheries
and Wildlife listed nene as an
endangered species (35 FR 16047) under
the authority of the new regulations
implementing the Endangered Species
Conservation Act (ESCA) of 1969.
Species listed as endangered under the
ESCA of 1969 were automatically
included in the List of Endangered and
Threatened Wildlife when the

Endangered Species Act (Act) was
enacted in 1973.

On February 14, 1983, the Service
released the Nene Recovery Plan
(USFWS 1983). On September 24, 2004,
the Service published for comment (69
FR 57356) the Draft Revised Recovery
Plan for Nene (USFWS 2004). The Draft
Revised Recovery Plan presented
additional information on the status of
the species, factors affecting species
recovery, and an updated framework for
species recovery.

A 5-year status review of the nene was
completed on September 30, 2011
(USFWS 2011a). This review concluded
that nene continued to meet the
definition of an endangered species
under the Act, and recommended no
change in the classification of nene as
endangered. However, current
information indicates the species is not
in danger of extinction and may warrant
reclassification from endangered to
threatened.

Species Information

The original rules identifying nene as
an endangered species (32 FR 4001, 34
FR 5034, 35 FR 16047) listed its
scientific name as Branta sandvicensis
and its common name as ‘“‘Hawaiian
goose (Nene).” Currently the Federal
List of Endangered and Threatened
Wildlife (50 CFR 17.11) gives its
scientific name as Branta (=Nesochen)
sandvicensis, and its common name as
“Hawaiian goose,” without indicating
“nene” as an alternative common name.
This species was once placed in the
genus Nesochen by the American
Ornithologists’ Union (AOU) (1982);
however, it was subsequently reassigned
to the genus Branta (AOU 1993) based
on analysis of mitochondrial DNA by
Quinn et al. (1991). Thus, Branta
sandvicensis is the only currently
accepted scientific name. The common
name ‘“‘Hawaiian goose” continues to be
accepted by the ornithological
community (AOU 1998). However, the
Hawaiian common name ‘“‘nene” is also
widely familiar to the public and is, for
example, frequently referenced in
governmental documents within the
State of Hawaii (e.g., Hawaii Department
of Land and Natural Resources (DLNR)
2005). Therefore, we are including in
this document a proposal to return to
the scientific and common names that
were used in the original listing rules,
with “nene’ as an accepted alternative
common name.

The nene is a medium-sized goose
with an overall length of approximately
25 to 27 inches (in) (63 to 65
centimeters (cm)) (Banko et al. 1999, p.
2). The plumage of both sexes is similar
(Banko et al. 1999, p. 2). This species is
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adapted to a terrestrial and largely non-
migratory lifestyle in the Hawaiian
Islands with limited freshwater habitat
(Banko et al. 1999, p. 1). Adaptations to
a terrestrial lifestyle include increased
hindlimb size, decreased forelimb size,
more upright posture, and reduced
webbing between the toes compared to
other species of Branta (Banko et al.
1999, p. 1; Olson and James 1991, p. 42).
Compared to the related Canada goose
(Branta canadensis), nene wings are
about 16 percent smaller in size and
their flight is not as strong (Banko et al.
1999, p. 9). Nene are capable of inter-
island and high altitude flight, but they
do not migrate out of the Hawaiian
archipelago (Banko et al. 1999, p. 9).

Nene currently use shrublands,
grasslands, sparsely vegetated lava
flows, and human-altered habitats
ranging from coastal to alpine
environments (Wilson and Evans 1890—
1899, p. 186; Munro 1944, pp. 41-42;
Scott et al. 1986, p. 77; Banko et al.
1999, pp. 4-5). In the grassy shrublands
and sparsely vegetated lava flows on the
islands of Hawaii and Maui, nene nest,
raise their young, forage, and molt
(Banko et al. 1999, p. 2). Some nene
populations on these islands move
seasonally from montane foraging
grounds to lowland or midelevation
nesting areas (Banko et al. 1999, p. 2).
On the island of Kauai, nene are
primarily found using lowland habitats
such as coastal wetlands at Hanalei
National Wildlife Refuge (NWR), with
the exception of the Na Pali Coast
(USFWS 2004, pp. 15, 17).

Nene are currently known to occupy
various habitat and vegetation
community types ranging from coastal
dune vegetation and nonnative
grasslands (such as golf courses,
pastures, and rural areas) to sparsely
vegetated low- and high-elevation lava
flows, mid-elevation native and
nonnative shrubland, cinder deserts,
native alpine grasslands and
shrublands, and open and nonnative
alpine shrubland-woodland community
interfaces (Banko et al. 1999, pp. 4-6).
On the island of Kauai, nene also use a
number of coastal wetland areas
including taro loi (ponds) (A. Marshall
2017a, pers. comm.). Nene are browsing-
grazers; the composition of their diet
depends largely on the vegetative
composition of their surrounding
habitats, and they appear to be
opportunistic in their choice of food
plants as long as they meet nutritional
demands (Banko et al. 1999, pp. 6-38;
Woog and Black 2001, p. 324). Nene
may exhibit seasonal movements to
grasslands in periods of low berry
production and wet conditions that
produce grass with a high water content

and resultant higher protein content.
The sites currently used by nene for
nesting range from coastal lowland to
subalpine zones and demonstrate
considerable variability in features
(Banko et al. 1999, pp. 4-5). However,
the current distribution of nene nesting
sites has been influenced by the location
of release sites of captive-bred
individuals (Hawaii Division of Forestry
and Wildlife (DOFAW) 2012, pp. 9-10).
Historical reports from the island of
Hawaii indicate that nene bred and
molted primarily in the lowlands during
winter months and moved upslope in
the hotter and drier summer months
(Henshaw 1902, p. 105; Munro 1944,
pPp- 41-42; Banko 1988, p. 35).
Reproductive success is relatively low
in upland habitats on the islands of
Hawaii and Maui, and higher in
lowland habitat on Kauai (Banko et al.
1999, p. 19).

Nene have an extended breeding
season with eggs being laid from August
to April (Banko et al. 1999, p. 12).
Nesting peaks in December, and most
goslings hatch from December to
January (Banko et al. 1999, p.12). On the
island of Kauai, nene frequently nest
earlier (A. Marshall 2017a, pers.
comm.). Nene nest on the ground, in a
shallow scrape in the dense shade of a
shrub or other vegetation. A clutch
typically contains three to five eggs, and
incubation lasts for 29 to 32 days (Banko
et al. 1999, pp. 14—15). Once hatched,
the young may remain in the nest for 1
to 2 days; all hatchlings depart the nest
after the last egg is hatched (Banko et al.
1999, p. 12). Fledging (i.e., development
of wing feathers large enough for flight)
occurs at 10 to 12 weeks for captive
birds, but may be later in the wild
(Banko et al. 1999, p. 18). During molt,
adults are flightless for a period of 4 to
6 weeks and generally attain their flight
feathers at about the same time as their
offspring. When flightless, goslings and
adults are extremely vulnerable to
predators such as cats, dogs, and
mongoose. After molting and fledging,
around June to September, family
groups frequently congregate in post-
breeding flocks, often far from nesting
areas. Nene reach sexual maturity at 1
year of age, but usually do not form pair
bonds until the second year. Females
are highly philopatric (loyal to their
place of birth) and nest near their natal
area, while males more often disperse
(Banko et al. 1999, p. 13).

Nene and one or more now extinct
species of Branta are thought to have
once been widely distributed among the
main Hawaiian Islands. Fossil remains
of nene have been found on Maui,
Molokai, Lanai, and Kauai (Olson and
James 1991, p. 43). However, nene

fossils have not yet been found on
Niihau (USFWS 2004, p. 6). On Oahu,
all fossils appear to be of a related but
extinct Branta form (Olson and James
1991, p. 43). The fossil record indicates
the prehistoric (before 1778) range of
nene was much greater than the
historically observed range (Banko et al.
1999, p. 1). However, it is difficult to
estimate original nene population
numbers because the species
composition and even gross structure of
the vegetation before Polynesian arrival
is poorly understood (USFWS 2004, p.
7). By 1960, fewer than 30 nene
remained on Hawaii Island (Smith 1952,
p. 1). The release of captive-bred nene,
which began in 1960, helped save the
species from imminent extinction
(USFWS 2004, pp. 2-3). As a result of
such programs, wild populations of
nene now occur on four of the main
Hawaiian Islands. As of 2016, the
Statewide population of wild Hawaiian
geese was estimated to have reached
2,855 individuals; the wild populations
on the islands of Hawaii, Maui,
Molokai, Kauai, and Oahu were
estimated to have 1,095, 616, 35, 1,107,
and 2 individuals, respectively (Nene
Recovery Action Group [NRAG] 2017,
unpublished). For maps of areas
currently used by nene, see USFWS
(2017).

Recovery Planning

Section 4(f) of the Act directs us to
develop and implement recovery plans
for the conservation and survival of
endangered and threatened species
unless we determine that such a plan
will not promote the conservation of the
species. Under section 4(f)(1)(B)(ii),
recovery plans must, to the maximum
extent practicable, include “objective,
measurable criteria which, when met,
would result in a determination, in
accordance with the provisions of
[section 4 of the Act], that the species
be removed from the list.”” However,
revisions to the Lists of Endangered and
Threatened Wildlife and Plants (adding,
removing, or reclassifying a species)
must be based on determinations made
in accordance with sections 4(a)(1) and
4(b) of the Act. Section 4(a)(1) requires
that the Secretary determine whether a
species is endangered or threatened (or
not) because of one or more of five
threat factors. Section 4(b) of the Act
requires that the determination be made
“solely on the basis of the best scientific
and commercial data available.” While
recovery plans provide important
guidance to the Service, States, and
other partners on methods of enhancing
conservation and minimizing threats to
listed species, as well as measurable
criteria against which to measure
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progress towards recovery, they are not
regulatory documents and cannot
substitute for the determinations and
promulgation of regulations required
under section 4(a)(1) of the Act. A
decision to revise the status of a species
on, or to remove a species from, the
Federal List of Endangered and
Threatened Wildlife (50 CFR 17.11) is
ultimately based on an analysis of the
best scientific and commercial data then
available to determine whether a species
is no longer an endangered species or a
threatened species, regardless of
whether that information differs from
the recovery plan.

There are many paths to
accomplishing recovery of a species,
and recovery may be achieved without
all of the criteria in a recovery plan
being fully met. For example, one or
more criteria may be exceeded while
other criteria may not yet be
accomplished. In that instance, we may
determine that the threats are
minimized sufficiently and the species
is robust enough to delist. In other
cases, recovery opportunities may be
discovered that were not known when
the recovery plan was finalized. These
opportunities may be used instead of
methods identified in the recovery plan.
Likewise, information on the species
may be learned that was not known at
the time the recovery plan was
finalized. The new information may
change the extent to which existing
criteria are appropriate for recognizing
recovery of the species. Recovery of a
species is a dynamic process requiring
adaptive management that may, or may
not, follow all of the guidance provided
in a recovery plan.

In 1983, the Service published the
Nene Recovery Plan and concluded that
the nene population in the wild was
declining; however, the exact causes of
the decline were not clearly understood
(USFWS 1983, p. 24). The Statewide
population was estimated at
approximately 600 nene with 390 = 120
nene on Hawaii Island and 112 nene on
Maui. Based on the available data, the
plan recommended the primary
objective to delist the species was
establishing a population of 2,000 nene
on Hawaii Island and 250 nene on Maui,
well distributed in secure habitat and
maintained exclusively by natural
reproduction (USFWS 1983, p. 24). The
plan focused on maintenance of wild
populations through annual releases of
captive-reared birds to prevent further
population decline, habitat management
including control of introduced
predators, and conducting research to
determine factors preventing nene
recovery and appropriate actions to
overcome these factors. The plan also

acknowledged that more research,
biological data, and better population
models would lead to a reassessment of
recovery efforts and criteria for delisting
the species.

On September 24, 2004, the Service
published for comment (69 FR 57356)
the Draft Revised Recovery Plan for
Nene (USFWS 2004). The draft revised
recovery plan presented additional
information on the status of the species,
factors affecting species recovery, and
an updated framework for species
recovery. At the time, the Statewide
population was estimated at 1,300 nene
with populations on Hawaii (349), Maui
(336), Kauai (564), and Molokai (55).
The primary factors affecting the nene
recovery in the wild were: (1) Predation
by introduced mammalian predators
(Factor C), (2) inadequate nutrition
(Factor E), (3) lack of lowland habitat
(Factor A), (4) human-caused
disturbance and mortality (Factor E), (5)
behavioral issues (Factor E), (6) genetic
issues (Factor E), and (7) disease (Factor
C). The draft revised recovery plan
recommended the following criteria for
downlisting the nene from endangered
to threatened: (1) Self-sustaining
populations exist on Hawaii, Maui Nui
(Maui, Molokai, Lanai, Kahoolawe), and
Kauai (tar